IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,482

FILED
OCT 18 1996

# INQUIRY CONCERNING A JUDGE NO. 95-412 RE: JUNE LARAN JOHNSON

## RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF IN RESPONSE TO ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE

On Review of a Disciplinary Recommendation of Removal by the Judicial Qualifications Commission

> BRUCE S. ROGOW BRUCE S. ROGOW, P.A. BEVERLY A. POHL Suite 900 100 N.E. Third Avenue - (see change of Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 addieso) (954) 767-8909

Counsel for Respondent Hon. June LaRan Johnson

###

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Judge June LaRan Johnson, County Judge of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida, was charged by the Judicial Qualifications Commission with the following consolidated charges:

In numerous DUI cases pending before you in 1994 and 1995, you directed court personnel to falsify . . . [court records] and those records were falsified pursuant to your instructions, [and] caused false dates to be entered . . . [thereby] allowing the persons found guilty of DUI to receive shortened revocation of their driver's licenses or no revocation at all . . . [and] resulted in your having less DUI trials.

JQC Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendations [hereinafter "JQC Findings"], p. 3.

The Commission conducted a formal hearing pursuant to article V, section 12 of the Florida Constitution on June 26-28, 1996. Due to a criminal investigation of Judge Johnson's conduct pending in the Dade County State Attorney's Office (by executive appointment due to a conflict in Broward County) (TR-III-511-514, 517; TR-IV-685), she did not testify at the hearing, although she did present evidence, including character evidence.

The Commission issued its report and recommendation to this Court on August 28, 1996 (Appendix), which found Judge Johnson had committed fraud

by intentionally falsifying public records:

23. The record shows and the Commission finds by clear and convincing evidence that Judge Johnson circumvented the Department of Motor Vehicles, that she did so knowingly and intentionally and that her actions corrupted the official driving records of the State of Florida.

JQC Findings, pp. 12-13. The Commission rejected double jeopardy concerns as an explanation for her backdating:

[T]he Commission concludes that Judge Johnson committed serious violations of the Judicial Canons. Judge Johnson counseled and directed third parties in the commission of a fraud on the Florida Department of Motor Vehicles and her actions were successful in defrauding the Department. The Commission also concludes that Judge Johnson acted knowingly and intentionally, and for personal reasons rather than over any concern for the legal issue of double jeopardy.

<u>Id</u>. at 15. Finding that Judge Johnson's conduct eroded public confidence in the judiciary, the Commission found her unfit to hold office:

Accordingly, the Commission finds that Judge June LaRan Johnson, by conducting herself in the manner set out in the above Findings of Fact intentionally committed serious and grievous wrongs of a clearly unredeeming nature. She has rendered herself an object of disrespect and derision

in her role as a judge to the point of ineffectiveness and has caused public confidence in the Judiciary to become eroded. Judge Johnson is guilty of violating Canons 1, 2(A), 3(B)(2) and 3(C)(2) of the Code of Judicial Conduct. The Commission finds by clear and convincing evidence that Judge Johnson's violations of these Canons demonstrates a present unfitness to hold judicial office any further in this state.

Id. at 15-16.1

The Commission recommended her removal from office. <u>Id</u>. In this appeal we accept the Commission's Findings of Fact, but contest the Commission's conclusions that Judge Johnson's wrongs were of an "unredeeming nature," were for "personal reasons," and render her presently unfit to hold judicial office. Most importantly, we urge the Court to impose a public reprimand to be administered in a personal appearance before the Court, rather than the removal recommended by the Commission.

The Canons are quoted at p. 13 of the JQC findings. In sum, they are: Canon 1 (upholding the integrity and independence of the judiciary); Canon 2(A) (avoiding impropriety and the appearance of impropriety in all judicial activities); Canon 3(B)(2) (be faithful to the law, maintain professional competence in the law, do not be swayed by partisan interests, public perception, or fear of criticism); Canon 3(C)(2) (demand that judicial staff adhere to same standards as judge, refrain from manifesting bias or prejudice in the performance of official duties). **Appendix p. 13**.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On 42-57 occasions, as part of a guilty plea in DUI (driving under the influence) cases, Judge June LaRan Johnson backdated the adjudication date, thereby relieving the defendants, whose licenses had been administratively suspended, from all or part of their statutory post-conviction driver's license revocation. See TR-III-459-461; TR-II-239. The factual findings made by the Judicial Qualifications Commission against Judge Johnson are essentially undisputed. Judge Johnson accepts those findings, each of which is supported by the record. Only the characterization of Judge Johnson's motive and intent is disputed.<sup>2</sup> We set forth below some of the findings, and other relevant record facts which were not contained in the Commission's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Certain findings made by the Commission are not factual matters of record, but rather inferences drawn from the undisputed facts. We contest those negative inferences, specifically:

<sup>--</sup>JQC Findings, p. 7  $\P$  12 (Judge Johnson's statements "reflect[ed] a conscious awareness of the impropriety of her actions . . .");

<sup>--</sup>JQC Findings, p. 8 ¶ 13 (Judge Johnson's statements "reflect[ed] the increasing sense of urgency with which she was acting")

June LaRan Johnson was elected to the County Court bench in Broward County in 1982, and continues to serve as a County judge in the civil division. JQC Findings, p. 3 ¶ 1. She came from a modest background, worked hard to become a lawyer and judge, and according to her colleagues relates well to the people in County Court:

[S]he had to work, she had to huff and puff to get where she is today. It wasn't given to her. And she had to come from humble beginnings and she had to really make an effort to get where she was today.

She could as easily be sitting out there in one of our poorer neighborhoods in a house that didn't even have a screened door on it for a front door or she could be sitting where she is today. It's how she wanted to make it. She chose to make it this way.

I mean, I don't want to give you a blow-by-blow, day-by-day how she grew up, but it was not easy.

I mean, she was not gifted. She was gifted mentally. She wasn't gifted with money or lavishness.

TR-IV-617-618 (Respondent's witness, Hon. John Miller).

[June] Johnson came from a background that dictated the same sympathy for those people [in County Court without attorneys] as she showed towards her own family, her own friends. She was able to relate to that.

TR-V-866-867 (Respondent's witness Hon. Larry Seidlin). "She shows compassion and kindness to the people of Broward County." <u>Id.</u> at 851. JQC Special Counsel Lauri Waldman Ross agreed, acknowledging in her opening statement that "you will not hear anybody in this courtroom come in and say that Judge Johnson is a bad person." TR-I-16. But it was not Judge Johnson's character or demeanor which led to these proceedings.<sup>3</sup> It was a series of identical on-the-record judicial acts carried out over an 18-month period in 42-57 DUI cases.

Some legal background is necessary to put those acts in context. Under Florida law, a person arrested for driving under the influence and who fails or refuses a breath test for blood alcohol loses his or her license through an administrative suspension. Subsequently, at conviction, the license must be revoked for at least 6 months. TR-I-68, 138-139. Section 322.28(2)(a), Fla. Stat., provides in pertinent part:

(a) Upon conviction of the driver, the court, along with imposing sentence, shall revoke the driver's license or driving privilege of the person so convicted and shall prescribe the period of such revocation

The JQC had also charged Judge Johnson with using crude language in the courtroom, but that charge was dismissed. JQC Findings p. 1; TR-III-555-56, 565.

in accordance with the following provisions:

1. Upon a first conviction for a violation of the provisions of s. 316.193, except a violation resulting in death, the driver's license or driving privilege shall be revoked for not less than 180 days or more than 1 year.<sup>4</sup>

Department of Motor Vehicles Assistant General Counsel Jill Tavlin Swartz testified that Judge Johnson's practice of backdating adjudications was "contrary to law." TR-III-444-445.

This dual system of suspension followed by revocation was enacted in 1990 (TR-III-478), and spawned considerable double jeopardy litigation in Broward County (id. at 450), with defense lawyers arguing that the sequential imposition of license suspension then revocation was unconstitutional under the double jeopardy clause. TR-IV-700-01, 755. Broward County Judge Ron Rothschild said "there were just a plethora of double jeopardy issues floating around this courthouse for about two years. . . ." TR-V-875. DUI defense attorney Michael Catalano explained:

So lawyers all over the country were arguing that the administrative suspension was a trial

Subsection 2(a) of § 322.28, Fla. Stat., was amended during the pendency of these proceedings, to make the criminal revocation explicitly "effective on the date of conviction." 1996 Fla. Sess. Law Serv. Ch. 96-330 § 8 (West). See TR-III-466-467.

and that when you came to court, you had already been placed in jeopardy once so why should you have to go through this twice.

TR-IV-649.5

Judge Johnson fashioned a plea offer for some DUI defendants in her court which both avoided double jeopardy concerns and encouraged guilty pleas. TR-V-840. As part of a guilty plea in some cases, she directed her clerk to enter a date of adjudication on the disposition sheet which was earlier than the actual date of the plea. TR-II-272; JQC Findings, p. 5 ¶ 6, p. 6 ¶ 9. Judge Johnson did this in open court; she never told her clerk or the parties to hide the backdating (TR-II-327, 353), and prosecutors, clerks, and defense lawyers all knew of the practice. TR-I-128-129. The transcripts of such pleas, obtained and reviewed by an Assistant State Attorney supervisor, reflected that the backdating was almost always on the taped record. TR-II-245; see also Testimony of Attorney Craig

The double jeopardy arguments were being made to preserve the issue in the event the Supreme Court should find double jeopardy was violated. Although the Fourth District Court of Appeal had found that Florida's dual system was not unconstitutional, State v. Murray, 644 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (TR-IV-650), defense lawyers relied upon a double jeopardy finding by Broward County Judge Ron Rothschild in State v. Reilly (Judge's Exhibit 1; see TR-V-873), and on federal and out-of-state authorities (Department of Revenue of Mont. v. Kurth Ranch, 511 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 114 S.Ct. 1937, 128 L.Ed.2d 767 (1994)), and on the fact that the Supreme Court had not resolved a conflict among jurisdictions. It did so just days before this JQC hearing, in United States v. Ursery, 116 S.Ct. 2135 (1996), which effectively put to rest the double jeopardy argument.

Satchell:

- Q. Did you have a history of cases with Judge Johnson where matters would be routinely done off the record so nobody would know what happened in the case?
- A. No, she did things on the record.

TR-V-818. Even on the "couple of times" the tape recorder was turned off (TR-II-282), the backdating was done openly in the presence of prosecutors, clerks, and defense lawyers.

Judge Johnson did not use the term *nunc pro tunc* when backdating adjudications, because the Department of Motor Vehicles would not give the intended retroactive effect to *nunc pro tunc* orders. TR-II-278-79, 285, 291, 295-96; TR-IV-443, 455. She did, however, adjudicate defendants as of a prior date, saying:

"The Court: It's the only way to get around the Department of Motor Vehicles and it's a wonderful tool to use on occasion. I don't do it all the time. I'm doing it -- I'm doing it for you so that you cannot have too much down time in terms of your work."

TR-II-293 (quoting recorded transcript of DUI plea hearing in Judge Johnson's court).<sup>6</sup>

The JQC found that Judge Johnson thus exhibited a "conscious awareness of the impropriety of her actions, as well as her intention to mislead

When the practice was questioned by a probation officer who noted that certain defendants had very little time to complete their conditions of probation [due to the backdating] (TR-II-382), the Director of Probation brought it to the attention of the Court Administrator and two administrative judges. TR-III-483; JQC Findings, p. 10 ¶ 16-17. Subsequently, the Director of Probation was contacted by the State Attorney's office, and asked to research whether there were other cases in which Judge Johnson had backdated the disposition dates. <u>Id</u>. at 484. The Director found 54 such cases. <u>Id</u>. at 485.

\* \* \*

As the result of an anonymous telephone call to the State Attorney's office in September 1995 (TR-I-32-33), Assistant State Attorney Howard Scheinberg, supervisor of the County Court division of the State Attorney's office (TR-I-48-49), was instructed by State Attorney Michael Satz to investigate older DUI cases pending in Judge Johnson's division. He reviewed 800-850 open cases in Judge Johnson's division, and identified nine very old cases. TR-II-225-227. Scheinberg reported to Satz that Judge Johnson had repeatedly re-set arraignments in a number of cases. (JQC Exhibit 3).

The monthly case count of pending open cases is based upon those

the Department of Motor Vehicles." JQC Findings, p. 7 ¶ 12.

cases which have proceeded past the point of arraignment. TR-III-500. Thus, Scheinberg concluded that because it is the arraignment which triggers a case for case count purposes, Judge Johnson re-set arraignments in order to keep her "cases pending" statistics artificially low:

[A] not guilty plea being entered in a case on the judges' docket are cases set for trial and pending. If you keep resetting that arraignment constantly and the case is never put in a "set for trial" status, then it's never going to come up on your statistics as part of your case load.

So that's -- it was my belief that was what the purpose was for keeping the cases and not just these cases but keeping the majority of the cases in the division on a not trial set status.

TR-II-246; see also JQC Findings, p. 4 ¶ 3, quoting Scheinberg's report as stating that Judge Johnson's practice "appeared to be geared towards minimizing her reported cases for statistical purposes." He observed that when Judge Johnson left the criminal division, the case count went from 112 to 371, and opined that "the case load immediately went up because the cases were actually set for trial." TR-1-87-89; see also TR-III-503-504.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Chief Judge Ross transferred Judge Johnson into a civil division in December, 1995 because there were "potential criminal charges looming" over the backdating practice, and he thought it inappropriate for her to sit in a criminal division. TR-III-528, 538. At the time of the JQC hearing in June,

Chief Judge Dale Ross thought that re-setting arraignments was a bad practice (TR-III-506) and discussed it with Judge Johnson and asked her to stop:

A. [JUDGE ROSS:] Well, I indicated to her it was brought to my attention and I asked her what her explanation was for the same. We had a brief conversation. Judge Johnson provided an explanation.

Candidly I don't have a very clear or lengthy recollection of that explanation because it was a short conversation and Judge Johnson was very cooperative and she indicated she would stop the practice.

- Q. Can you remember anything about that discussion?
- A. It was a case management in that getting the case involved in the system sooner and that way control -- my recollection is very, very vague, ma'am, because Judge Johnson was very, very cooperative and didn't give me any degree of difficulty whatsoever.

TR-III-505-506; JQC Findings, p. 4 ¶ 4. Although Chief Judge Ross "didn't particularly agree" with Judge Johnson's practice, he recalled her explanation "did have a sense of logic to it." TR-III-524. On cross-examination he confirmed Judge Johnson's willingness to comply with his directive:

Judge Ross had not received any complaints about Judge Johnson. Id. at 529.

- Q. Did she just simply take your advice?
- A. She said, Dale, I will do anything you want me to do.

#### TR-III-527.8

A few months later, after the probation office had alerted court officials to the backdating practice, Scheinberg was again assigned by the State Attorney, to investigate all of the closed cases in Judge Johnson's division for the past 18 months, to determine whether backdating had occurred and in particular what the Assistant State Attorneys' role had been. TR-I-63, 116. He found that in 50-57 cases, most of which were open pleas, the records reflected a backdating of the date of conviction, almost always without objection by the State. TR-I-67, 113, 117.9 Transcripts were prepared from 42 of those cases (TR-I-164) and the practice of backdating, and its consequence of reducing or eliminating those defendants' term of drivers license revocation was established before the JQC. See JQC Findings, pp. 11-12 ¶ 20. The JQC noted that "no mention of double jeopardy as a basis for any of the pleas" appeared in the transcripts of record. Id. at ¶ 21.

Although the State Attorney had asked Chief Judge Ross to discuss the re-setting of arraignments with Judge Johnson, he did not ask him to discuss the practice of backdating dispositions. TR-III-519.

An "open" plea permits the Court to impose any sentence, as opposed to a "negotiated plea" in which the State and the Defendant agree to the sentence in advance of the plea. TR-I-65-66.

The JQC also found that the backdating practice served Judge Johnson's (unspecified) "personal reasons," (JQC Findings, p. 15), although it was Judge Ross' testimony that "the changing of the dates wouldn't have anything to do with the case count, but the resetting of arraignments would, yes." TR-III-540.

Despite her clear error in legal judgment, Judge Johnson received strong support at the hearing from Chief Judge Dale Ross, as well as from her colleagues Circuit Judges John Miller and Larry Seidlin. See p. 5, supra; JQC

A. Judge Johnson is probably one of the nicest people I've ever known in my entire life. She's a very, very caring person, very, very compassionate person, and she generally tries and likes to help people.

Findings, p. 12 ¶ 22. Chief Judge Dale Ross said:

- Q. [BY MR. KAY:] Would it [the backdating] change your opinion as to her honesty and integrity?
- A. No, I believe Judge Johnson's motive is a *pure motive*. I think she was doing what she was doing because she -- *for a pure motive*. It's my opinion that she wasn't doing it for illegal purposes or otherwise.

TR-III-546-547 (emphasis supplied). Although he was not familiar with the details of the backdating cases (TR-III-540) Judge Ross told the JQC that Judge Johnson's

reputation in the judicial community for honesty and integrity was "high," and that "lawyers in particular have a great deal of respect for Judge Johnson." (TR-III-537). He differentiated legal error from intentional corrupt misconduct:

- Q. And there is a difference, is there not, Judge, between backdating something for what you believe is a legal reason and backdating it quietly and secretly for a reason you know is illegal?
- A. Well, if you're asking me a legal opinion, I certainly think that would be reflective on intent, motive, malice, things like that. Sure.

TR-III-545-546.

With that background, we turn to the legal issues.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I.

IS A PERSONAL APPEARANCE PUBLIC REPRIMAND -- NOT REMOVAL -- THE PROPER SANCTION TO BE IMPOSED UPON A JUDGE WHO BACKDATED DUI ADJUDICATION DATES, RESULTING IN THE DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES BEING MISLED WITH REGARD TO LICENSE REVOCATIONS?

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Judge June LaRan Johnson should not be removed from the bench. Her conduct, backdating adjudications of DUI defendants who pled guilty, thus shortening or eliminating their statutory drivers license revocation, was an abuse of judicial discretion which exceeded the wide discretion given a judge in the context of plea negotiations and sentencing. However, it was done openly, on-the-record, and generally without objection from the State, which never appealed any order to backdate a conviction date. Judge Johnson's single error in legal judgment, though repeated 42-57 times, represents but one mark on an otherwise unblemished 14-year judicial career. It is not the sort of conduct which requires this Court to impose the drastic sanction of removal, and is more appropriately addressed through a public reprimand administered by the Chief Justice.

Judge Johnson's acts were not prompted by corrupt motive. She did not abuse citizens or colleagues, or deny litigants constitutional rights, or engage in *ex parte* communications or use her office for personal gain. The backdating enabled defendants to limit their loss of driving privileges. It was wrong, but as her Chief Judge said: "Judge Johnson's motive is a pure motive . . . . It's my opinion that she wasn't doing it for illegal purposes or otherwise." TR-III-547.

A public reprimand with a personal appearance will stress for Judge

Johnson, the public, and the judiciary, the responsibilities of a judge. Judge Johnson's otherwise unmarred record, and the record of the JQC proceedings, do not show her to be presently unfit to be a judge. Her wrongs are not beyond redemption. Her good character and long years of public service are relevant considerations supporting her present fitness for the bench.

The Court should exercise its constitutional prerogative and reject the recommendation of removal in favor of a personal appearance public reprimand.

#### **ARGUMENT**

JUDGE JUNE LARAN JOHNSON SHOULD RECEIVE A PUBLIC REPRIMAND REQUIRING A PERSONAL APPEARANCE BEFORE THE COURT. THE JUDICIAL QUALIFICATIONS COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION THAT SHE BE REMOVED FROM OFFICE SHOULD BE REJECTED.

#### A. THE REMOVAL CASES

This Court will not lightly remove a judge from office. *E.g.*, In re Boyd, 308 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1975); In re Dekle, 308 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 1975); In re Kelly, 238 So. 2d 565 (Fla. 1970). Here however the JQC's findings illustrate a serious character flaw. On the totality of the circumstances it appears that Berkowitz is basically dishonest. His conduct, both while a judge, and while a practicing attorney, demonstrates a propensity to skate close to the edge.

In re Berkowitz, 522 So. 2d 843, 844 (Fla. 1988). Berkowitz lied to the Judicial Qualifications Commission, misused trust accounts, failed to produce or disclose or trust account records, practiced law while a judge, and failed to file accurate tax returns. Id. at 843. The Court concurred with the JQC recommendation and removed Judge Berkowitz from office.

Judge Gary Graham was removed from office upon the JQC's recommendation because of his "cumulative conduct over a period of time and the totality of the circumstances" of the charges against him. <u>In re Graham</u>, 620 So.

2d 1273, 1276 (Fla. 1993). Graham had:

- 1. Repeatedly use[d] his position as judge... to make allegations of official misconduct and improper criticisms against fellow judges, elected officials and their assistants, and others without reasonable factual basis or due regard for their personal and professional regulations.
- 2. Exceed[ed] and abus[ed] the power of his office by imposing improper sentences and improper use of contempt power.
- 3. Act[ed] in an undignified and discourteous manner toward litigants, attorneys, and others appearing in his court.
- 4. Act[ed] in a manner which impugned the public perception of the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary.
- 5. Clos[ed] and attempt[ed] to close public proceedings.

<u>Id</u>. at 1274. Graham's "repeated departure from the Guidelines established in the Code of Judicial Conduct," and his refusal to confront the question of his fitness, led to his removal:

[T]his Court is charged with rendering the ultimate decision on whether the evidence proves that Graham's conduct is unbecoming a member of the judiciary. The object of these disciplinary proceedings "is not to inflict punishment, but to determine whether one who exercises judicial power is unfit to

hold office." [In re Kelly, 238 So. 2d] at 569.

<u>Id.</u> at 1275. <u>Graham (at 1276)</u> cited <u>In re Crowell, 379 So. 2d 107 (Fla. 1980)</u>, in which "abuse of contempt power and a pattern of hostile conduct" justified removal. The JQC described Crowell as having "a propensity to summarily adjudicate and incarcerate a citizen . . . without according to the accused a right to be heard or any opportunity to defend himself." <u>Crowell, 379 So. 2d at 108.</u>

Judge Mary Jean McAllister's JQC-recommended removal was approved:

We conclude that the fmdings of sexual harassment of a judicial assistant, a willingness to engage in e x parte communications and the intentional abuse directed toward the public defender's office when viewed together, warrant removal.

<u>In re McAllister</u>, 646 So. 2d 173, 178 (Fla. 1994).

A single incident -- theft -- resulted in adoption of the JQC removal recommendation for District Court of Appeal Judge Eugene Garrett. The JQC found: "Judge Garrettadmitted that he recognized what the VCR Plus device was and did, and that he wanted it, that he intended to steal it, and that he did so purposefully . . . .[H]is admitted conduct shows a conscious deliberate and premeditated theft." In re Garrett, 613 So. 2d 463 (Fla. 1993). The Court

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