IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NOV 8 1996

CASE NO.: 87,482

CLEAK, SUPREME COUNT

INQUIRY CONCERNING A JUDGE NO.: 95-412 RE: JUNE LARAN JOHNSON

PETITIONER'S ANSWER BRIEF IN RESPONSE TO ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE

On Review of a Disciplinary Recommendation of Removal by the Judicial Qualifications Commission

TIMOTHY W. ROSS, ESQ. ROSS & BURGER, P.A. SPECIAL COUNSEL TO THE FLORIDA JUDICIAL QUALIFI-CATIONS COMMISSION 2900 S.W. 28TH STREET 7TH FLOOR, GROVE PLAZA COCONUT GROVE, FL 33131 (305) 442-2470

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

ARGUMENT

REMOVAL IS THE ONLY APPROPRIATE REMEDY FOR KNOWINGLY AND INTENTIONALLY COUNSELING THIRD PARTIES ON HOW TO CIRCUMVENT THE LAW THAT A JUDGE IS SWORN TO UPHOLD, AND IN DIRECTING THE FALSIFICATION OF OFFICIAL COURT RECORDS. (REPHRASED).

The object of these disciplinary proceedings "is not to inflict punishment, but to determine whether one who exercises judicial power is unfit to hold a judgeship." In re Kelly, 238 So. 2d 565, 571 (Fla. 1970), cert. denied, 401 U.S. 962, 91 S.Ct. 970, 28 L.Ed. 2d 246 (1971). The evidence against a judge must be clear and convincing. In re LaMotte, 341 So. 2d 513, 516 (Fla. 1977). The JQC's findings and recommendations have persuasive force and should be given great weight. This Court, however, has the power to determine the ultimate remedy.

In considering the appropriate remedy, it is important to note that:

[R]emoval is not punishment for a crime, nor is suspension, nor is the withholding of pay. The purpose of the removal proceedings, and

all related aspects of those proceedings, is to regulate the judiciary, to protect the public from dishonest judges, to prevent proven dishonest judges from doing further damage, and above all to assure the public that the judiciary is worthy of its trust....

<u>In re Shenberg v. Sepe</u>, 632 So. 2d 42 (Fla. 1992), citing <u>In re Coruzzi</u>, 472 A.2d 546, <u>appeal dismissed</u>, 469 U.S. 802, 105 S.Ct. 56, 83 L.Ed. 2d 8 (1984).

The Florida Constitution, article v, \$12(f) was amended in 1976 to provide that "Malafides, scienter or moral turpitude on the part of a justice or judge shall not be required for removal from office of a justice or judge who conduct demonstrates a present unfitness to hold office." See In re Graham, 620 So. 2d 1273 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 1186, 127 L.Ed 2d 537 (1994) (removal warranted even where judicial misconduct did not result from a dishonorable motive, and Judge was not dishonest, venal or quilty of moral turpitude). Thus, respondent's reliance on cases such as In re Dekle, 308 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1975) and In re Boyd, 308 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1975), which not only preceded, but in fact, precipitated this Constitutional revision, is misplaced. Nevertheless, petitioner agrees that removal is reserved for cases involving the most serious judicial misconduct, as this Court will not lightly remove a sitting judge from office. <u>See In re</u> Berkowitz, 522 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 1988); In re Kelly, 238 So. 2d 565 (Fla. 1988), cert. den., 401 U.S. 962, 91 S.Ct. 970, 28 L.Ed 2d 246 (1971). The parties here diverge on whether Judge Johnson's

conduct is of a sufficient magnitude to warrant her removal. Simply stated, it must.

A judge's honesty and integrity lies at the very heart of the judicial system. See In re Shenberg, 632 So. 2d 42 (Fla. 1992) Thus, even one serious and flagrant dishonest act may warrant the ultimate punishment. See In re Garrett, 613 So. 2d 463 (Fla. 1993) (one knowing and intentional act of petit theft); see also In re Berkowitz, 522 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 1988) (Judge's deception during JQC proceedings warranted his removal because it reflected judge was "basically dishonest"); In re LaMotte, 341 So. 2d 513 (Fla. 1977) (intentional repeated use of state credit card for personal expenses, even in light of prior unblemished record).

As this Court has also noted:

[T]he integrity of the judicial system, the faith and confidence of the people in the judicial process, and the faith of the people in the particular judge are all affected by the false statements of a judge.

In re Inquiry Concerning a Judge (Leon), 440 So. 2d 1267 (Fla. 1983) (removal warranted <u>inter alia</u> for making false statements to the JQC).

Judge Johnson's conduct is no less egregious here. Putting aside the question of motive, there can be no serious debate over the fact that counseling and directing court personnel to falsify official court records is not a mere "peccadillo" or "error of judgment". Under the Florida Evidence Code, official public

records are self-authenticating, §90.902(4), Fla. Stats. (1995), and subject to judicial notice, §90.202, Fla. Stat. (1995) and are admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule. §90.803(8), Fla. Stat. (1995).

That Judge Johnson placed her own integrity into dispute might be subject to correction. That Judge Johnson has placed into dispute the integrity of the official motor vehicle records of this state can never be corrected.

It is essential to our system of justice that the public have absolute confidence in the integrity of the judiciary. A judge who tampers with court records cannot instill such confidence.

Judge Johnson disputes the "inference" that she acted with a "conscious awareness of the impropriety of her actions." (Initial Brief p. 4, n. 2). A review of the record reflects that no other inference can be reached.

The transcripts of DUI hearings amply reflect Judge Johnson's intention to deceive the department of motor vehicles into accepting a <u>false</u> date as the conviction date:

DIEDRICH

The Court: "The earliest date I can use that they're not going to bounce back on me is February - February 9." (T. 287).

* * *

KNOWLES

Q. I would like you to turn to the Knowles transcript. It's May 5, 1995.

- A. (Clerk Langley). I've got it.
- Q. Looking at Page 18, Line 6, does the Judge tell you how to write this file up?
- A. "Sandy, today is going You haven't dated it yet I hope".
- Q. And you had dated it, correct?
- A. On Line 8. "The Clerk: Uh Huh (affirmative)."
- Q. Now, what did the Court say?
- A. Line 9. "The Court: But if you have, just correct the date."
- Q. And what was the date that the Judge announced today was?
- A. On Line 12: "Today is January the 25th, 1995".
- Q. Now, Miss St. Laurent is the very next name that you see here. Who was she?
- A. She was our State Attorney at the time.
- Q. And what does she say to the Judge on May 5, 1995 when the Judge announces that today's date is January 25, 1995?
- A. That's Line 13. "Miss St. Laurent: Judge, you lost me."
- Q. And the Court's response?
- A. On Line 14. "The Court: I did a quantum leap. I love to leap in time. It's one of my favorite shows. It's on at midnight."

* * *

- Q. And then Miss St. Laurent, does she ask any questions of the Judge as to what she's doing?
- A. On Line 19. "Miss St. Laurent: You're dating

him back? You're dating him back on this?"

- Q. What's the Court's response?
- A. On Line 21. "The Court: No Yeah, today I'm not nunc pro tuncing him.
- Q. Okay. And does Miss St. Laurent ask for another explanation as to what the Court was doing?
- A. Yes, Line 23. "Miss St. Laurent: I I I'm just If the Judge the court wouldn't mind explaining what you just did so that I'm -"
- Q. And what does the Court say in response to Miss St. Laurent's request for an explanation this time?
- A. This is Page 19, Line 1. "The Court: It means that if today is January 25, 1995, then he's got which was the day that he made the agreement to keep my plea offer open, then it's February 25, March 25, April 25, May 25. He will be eligible for a regular driver's license in about 45 days, so that he doesn't have —
- Q. And Miss St. Laurent asked for clarification again, correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. What does she say?
- A. Line 7. "Miss St. Laurent" So you're dating it back to when you made the original offer even though he didn't accept it?"
- Q. Now, could you please tell the Commission what the Judge's response was with regard to the State's request for clarification in terms of dating it back?
- A. On Line 10. "The Court: Well, when you say dating it back, I can't date it back but I can make it another date. In other words, I can't say nunc pro tunc because they'll toss it

back. (T. 289-91, emphasis added).

* * *

ALLEN (After defense request to nunc pro tunc)

The Court: Well I know I can't nunc pro tunc it.
I'm just looking to see - This is what, 93 -"

- Q. And does the State inform the Court of the blood alcohol level of this Defendant?
- A. On Line 13. "Miss St. Laurent: Just for the Court's information, there was a .187, Your Honor.
- Q. And what does the Court announce that the date of this hearing is?
- A. On Line 15. "The court: November 8, 1994. I don't know where that is going to leave you but I They won't believe anything further back than that or September.
- Q. When the Court indicated to you that "they won't believe anything further back than that or September," who was they "they" that you understood she was referring to?
- A. The Department of Motor Vehicles.
- Q. And what was the date of the hearing that Judge Johnson announced on the record that Today's date was November 8, 1994?
- A. That was May 9, 1995. (T. 295-96).

These representative transcripts amply reflect that the purpose of the plea was to dupe the DMV into believing that the false dates were accurate dates. Otherwise, DMV would not give them full force and effect. This is the very essence of fraud.

Judge Johnson states, in mitigation, that she did everything out in the open, the backdating was "almost always on tape" and

that she merely reached an erroneous decision which "could have been cured by a single appeal by the State Attorney's office." (Initial Brief at 31). Her analysis is flawed. First, the record reflects that Judge Johnson went to great pains to hide what she was doing. These included directions to her clerk to turn off the tape when she was telling her to backdate records, as well as telling the probation department that she would "correct" the records when they brought the errors to her attention; then, never returned the records. Second, negligence has never been a defense to fraud. See generally Banco Nacional de la Vivienda v. Cooper, 680 F.2d 727 (11th Cir. 1982); Besett v. Basnett, 389 So. 2d 995, 997-98 (Fla. 1980); Coble v. American Parks, 576 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); Gold v. Perry, 456 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). Third, it is the Judge (not the attorneys) who bears paramount responsibility for enforcement of the law she has sworn to uphold. That responsibility is betrayed where a Judge actively participates in counseling parties on how to circumvent that law.

Concerning Judge Johnson's "pure motive", that too is belied by the record. Initially Judge Johnson used the practice of "resetting arraignments" to keep her case count down. However, she was instructed to discontinue that practice in September 1995, by Chief Judge Ross. Immediately thereafter, the amount of back dated pleas offered by the Judge escalated. At a time when Judge Johnson was trying fewer DUI cases than any other Judge, she had the lowest

or second lowest case count of any judge in her division (T. 501-05). As soon as she was moved out of that division and the backdating stopped, the amount of cases in her division increased by some 259 cases. (T. 504; 539-40; 575-76).

In sum, that Judge Johnson did not reap a "pecuniary gain" is not controlling; she did reap a benefit.

Finally, only one case cited by Judge Johnson is even remotely on point: In re Colby, 629 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 1993). In Colby, however, this court was dealing with a young (32 year old judge) newly appointed to the bench (less than two years) who made a mistake in judgment. (T. 729-743). Judge Johnson has no such excuse. At the time of the conduct in question, Judge Johnson was a seasoned veteran with twelve years experience. Her many statements of record reflect no "mistake", but a calculated effort to dupe a state agency. The only appropriate cure for such dishonesty on the part of a sitting judge is removal.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the report and recommendation of the JQC should be approved in its entirety.